

UNIVERSITY OF PADOVA

Department of General Psychology Bachelor's Degree Course in Psychological Sciences

Final dissertation

Problematic Social Media Use and the Dark Triad

Supervisor:

Professor Giulia Buodo

Candidate: Casey Lee Kuhrman Student ID number: 2037294

Abstract:

Social media has become an integral part of daily life, but its misuse has led to the emergence of problematic social media use (PSMU), a condition characterized by addiction-like behaviors. The present thesis explores the links between PSMU and the dark triad- narcissism, Machiavellianism, and psychopathy- through a comprehensive literature review. The aim is to synthesize existing research on how PSMU is defined and categorized, how the dark triad is understood, and how these dark traits correlate to problematic online behavior. Analyzing various empirical studies significant links emerge between the dark triad and PSMU. Despite these insights, gaps remain in fully understanding the mechanisms driving these relationships, warranting further research. This thesis contributes to a deeper understanding of how dark personality traits manifest in the digital space and highlights the need for an increase in conceptual consensus and targeted interventions to mitigate the negative effects of PSMU.

Table of Contents:

Abstract	1
Overview of the Literature Search on Problematic Social Media Use an	d the Dark
Triad	4
Literature Search Strategy	6
Eligibility Criteria	6
Chapter 1: Problematic Social Media Use	7
1.1: What is Problematic Social Media Use?	7
1.2: Screening/Diagnostic Tools for Problematic Social Media Use	8
1.3: Effects of Problematic Social Media Use	11
1.3.1: Psychological Effects	12
1.3.2: Social Effects	12
1.3.3: Cognitive and Behavioral Effects	13
Chapter 2: The Dark Triad	14
2.1: Theoretical Background	14
2.2: Narcissism	16
2.3: Machiavellianism	17
2.4: Psychopathy	17
2.5: Importance to Problematic Social Media Use	18

Chapter 3: The Relationship Between Problematic Social Media Use and the Dark			
Triad	19		
3.1: Study Characteristics	19		
Table 1. Studies on PSMU and the Dark Triad	20		
3.2: Main Findings	24		
3.2.1: Narcissism and PSMU	24		
3.2.2: Machiavellianism and PSMU	24		
3.2.3: Psychopathy and PSMU	25		
Discussion and Conclusion	25		
References:	30		

Overview of the Literature Search on Problematic Social Media Use and the Dark Triad

Social media has transformed the way individuals communicate, consume, interact with, and produce content, creating a new mode of engaging with the world. The increase in connectivity, unfortunately, does not come without its drawbacks. Social media can be put to misuse; researchers are working to define exactly what constitutes *problematic social media use* (PSMU). Conceptual contention and inconsistencies surrounding its definition result in a lack of reliable psychometric scales to measure the condition. Engaging in PSMU can result in several negative consequences in both social and personal life, with research showing correlations between PSMU and an increase in depression, anxiety, and stress (Hussain & Griffiths, 2019). In light of these findings, there has been increasing interest in understanding the underlying personality traits that may predispose individuals to engage in such maladaptive online behaviors.

One influential psychological framework garnering attention in the context of social media use is the Dark Triad—a cluster of three socially aversive personality traits: narcissism, Machiavellianism, and psychopathy. Narcissists are characterized by a pathological desire to bolster their self-image, often through manipulative and callous behavior, which stems from the clash between a grandiose identity and underlying insecurity (Jones & Paulhus, 2014). Machiavellianism is marked by manipulative behavior and a focus on personal gain, with a cynical disregard for morality (Jones &

Paulhus, 2014). Psychopathy, viewed as the most malevolent trait of the three, is characterized by high levels of impulsivity, low levels of empathy, and a tendency for antisocial behavior (Furnham et al., 2013). These traits may predispose individuals to exploit online social platforms for validation, control, and interpersonal dominance (Tang et al., 2022). The relationship between PSMU and the dark triad represents an important area of inquiry due to its potential implications for understanding maladaptive online behaviors.

As digital communication continues to expand, understanding the psychological drivers of these behaviors will aid in clarifying current conceptual confusion, providing a more definitive classification and understanding for PSMU. Greater clarity in the psychological drivers of these behaviors can inform strategies for mitigating their negative effects, both at an individual and societal level.

This paper employs a literature review to synthesize existing research on PSMU, the Dark Triad personality traits, and the relationship between the two. Given the aim to explore these constructs both independently and in relation to one another, the literature search design was structured around two core objectives: (1) a descriptive analysis of PSMU and the Dark Triad traits and (2) an examination of empirical studies that investigate associations between PSMU and the Dark Triad. Additionally, the review will highlight gaps in the research and propose directions for future investigation.

Literature Search Strategy

Three electronic databases -Google Scholar, PubMed, and ScienceDirect- were searched from May to July 2024. Key terms used were "Problematic Social Media Use," "Behavioral Addiction," "Excessive Social Media Use," "Dark Triad," "Narcissism," "Machiavellianism," and "Psychopathy." The search was limited to articles published from 2005 to 2024 for articles related to PSMU.

Eligibility Criteria

Inclusion criteria for this review required articles to (i) be published in English, (ii) focus on problematic or excessive social media use or social media addiction, (iii) focus on the Dark Triad or at least one of the three Dark Triad personality traits, (iv) employ validated scales for measuring PSMU and the Dark Triad traits. Exclusion criteria included studies focusing on social media use without differentiation of problematic or excessive usage, lack of relevant variables, and the use of non-validated measures for either PSMU or the Dark Triad traits.

For each included study, information was extracted regarding sample characteristics, assessment tools, key findings, and study limitations. The extracted data were then categorized by core themes to facilitate structured analysis: studies addressing PSMU, those examining the Dark Triad traits, and those analyzing the relationship between PSMU and the Dark Triad. Each study was evaluated based on methodological rigor, the validity of measures, and the extent to which its findings offered meaningful insights

or advancements relevant to the research question. Only studies meeting these standards were included in the final analysis.

Chapter 1: Problematic Social Media Use

1.1: What is Problematic Social Media Use?

PSMU has various conceptualizations and is yet to receive formal classification as a mental disorder, but many terms are consistent with its description. One common term is addiction. PSMU has many of the characteristics of a behavioral addiction, defined as the inability to control use, functional impairment, and continuing involvement in the behavior regardless of its negative impacts (Chamberlain et al., 2016). Despite any shared characteristics between PSMU and behavioral addiction, PSMU is not currently recognized as a behavioral addiction. Rather, it has been defined as the use of social media characterized by "addiction-like" symptoms and causing impairments in a user's daily life in terms of school and job failure and conflicts with family and friends (Marino, et al., 2021). Other mechanisms frequently associated with PSMU are dependence and compulsive use, both of which highlight the behavioral patterns marked by excessive engagement and difficulty in controlling online activity. For the context of this thesis, these terms provide a general understanding of PSMU as a behavioral disorder with patterns reminiscent of addiction, leaving the user struggling to control their social media use to the extent that it negatively impacts their personal, professional, and/or social life.

1.2: Screening/Diagnostic Tools for Problematic Social Media Use

To date, the most used instruments in the research of PSMU are the *Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale* (BSMAS; Andreassen et al., 2017) and the *Bergen Facebook Addiction Scale* (BFAS; Andreassen et al., 2012). The BSMAS and BFAS include 18 items, each scored on a five-point likert scale. (Zarate et al., 2022) identify three primary factors for why the BSMAS is a valid scale to employ when studying PSMU. First, the BSMAS is theoretically grounded, being based on the principles of the components model of addiction (Griffiths, 2005), which outlines six core criteria for identifying addiction: salience, tolerance, mood modification, withdrawal, relapse, and conflict. Secondly, the BSMAS can reflect a range of variations in PSMU due to the scale using ordered polytomous items. Lastly, the BSMAS has been adapted, validated, and employed in international samples, where it has shown good psychometric properties.

The Social Media Addiction Scale (SMAS; Tutgun-Ünal & Deniz, 2015) is another prominent measurement scale based on the components model of addiction (Griffiths, 2005). The SMAS presents four factors: occupation, mood modification, relapse, and conflict, aligning with the core criteria of the biopsychosocial theoretical framework, which are examined through 41 items (Cataldo, Ilaria, et al., 2022). The SMAS was developed to assess excessive social media use among university students.

The Social Networking Addiction Scale (SNWAS; Turel & Serenko, 2012) is a five-item instrument designed to assess respondents' experiences with their most frequently used social media platform. Participants are asked to rate their behaviors and feelings based

on their interactions with that platform, which helps measure the extent of their problematic use (Moretta et al., 2022).

The scales previously discussed, based on the components model of addiction (Griffiths, 2005), are complemented by another group of measurement scales that base themselves on the DSM-5 criteria for substance use and addictive disorders. Prominent scales in this category include the Internet Addiction Test (IAT; Young, 1998), Social Media Use Questionnaire (SMUQ; Xanidis & Brignell, 2016), and Social Media Disorder Scale (SMDS; Van den Eijnden et al., 2016). The IAT is a 20-item instrument, developed in reference to the DSM-5 criterion for gambling disorder (Moretta et al., 2022). Despite the IAT being developed before social media became popular, multiple studies adapted the test to investigate PSMU by replacing the word 'Internet' with 'social media' or with the name of a specific social media platform (Cataldo, Ilaria, et al., 2022). The SMUQ was developed based on the DSM-5 criteria for gambling disorder, as well as elements from the IAT and the Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence (Heatherton et al., 1991). The SMUQ follows a two-component model centered around withdrawal and compulsion, with its subscales assessing factors such as control dysfunction, craving, occupational, academic, or relational impairment, risky use, tolerance, and withdrawal (Cataldo, et al., 2022). The SMDS evaluates social media use in line with the DSM-5 criteria for Internet Gaming Disorder, the first internet-related disorder recognized and included as a tentative disorder in the DSM-5. The SMDS was developed under the theoretical assumption that social media addiction and Internet Gaming Disorder are

two forms of the same underlying construct, internet addiction, and should be defined using the same set of diagnostic criteria (van den Eijnden et al., 2016).

Distinct from scales grounded in the components model of addiction (Griffiths, 2005) or DSM-5 criteria, the Generalized Problematic Internet Use Scale 2 (GPIUS-2; Caplan, 2010), utilizes a cognitive-behavioral approach. It consists of 15 items assessing four cognitive and behavioral constructs associated with negative outcomes stemming from maladaptive internet use: preference for online social interaction, mood alteration, cognitive preoccupation, and compulsive behavior (Cataldo, et al., 2022; Moretta et al., 2022). The GPIUS-2 has been used in the assessment of PSMU by replacing the term 'Internet' with 'Social media' or by requesting that participants focus on their social media use while evaluating each item of the scale (Svicher et al., 2021). The GPIUS-2 was used as a base in the development of the Problematic Facebook Use Scale (PFUS; Marino et al., 2017), utilizing the same 15-item scale with the terms 'Internet' and 'Online' being replaced with Facebook. The authors evaluated the PFUS alongside the BFAS to establish convergent validity (Cataldo, et al., 2022). The BFAS, a widely used and validated measure of Facebook addiction, served as a comparative benchmark to assess the PFUS's accuracy in measuring problematic Facebook use.

The psychometric tools discussed outline the prevailing options utilized when assessing PSMU. Despite the utility of these tools, the assessment of PSMU faces several limitations. One primary issue is the condition's lack of official classification within established diagnostic manuals such as the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for*

Mental Disorders, 5th Edition (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013) or International Classification of Diseases, 11th revision (ICD-11; World Health Organization, 2022). As a result, there are no universally accepted diagnostic criteria for PSMU, complicating the development of standardized assessment methods and creating challenges when trying to consistently identify the condition, its prevalence, and its overall impact on society. Without formal diagnostic criteria, researchers and clinicians are reliant on self-report measures, which are susceptible to biases, including underreporting or exaggeration of symptoms (Andreassen et al., 2016). Additionally, many assessment tools, including the BSMAS and BFAS, typically rely on cross-sectional designs, assessing an individual's behavior at a single point in time. This limitation makes it difficult to establish the temporal patterns or causal relationships underpinning PSMU, such as whether excessive use is a consequence of underlying psychological issues, or whether it exacerbates pre-existing conditions. Moving forward further research is required to refine assessment tools and establish consensus on the diagnostic boundaries of PSMU as a mental disorder. Until conceptual and diagnostic criteria are agreed upon and standardized, assessing PSMU will remain varied and difficult.

1.3: Effects of Problematic Social Media Use

The pervasive use of social media platforms has prompted significant concern among healthcare professionals and the public regarding its potential harm. An expanding body of evidence increasingly links PSMU to a range of adverse psychological, social, and physiological outcomes.

1.3.1: Psychological Effects

PSMU is increasingly recognized for its adverse psychological effects, which span various aspects of mental health and well-being. Research indicates that PSMU is associated with heightened levels of anxiety, depression, loneliness, and distress (Abbouyi et al., 2024; Bányai et al., 2017; Brailovskaia et al., 2019; Huang, 2020). Moreover, Individuals with high levels of PSMU often report lower self-esteem (Andreassen et al., 2017; Błachnio et al., 2016). Insomnia and disrupted sleep patterns are also found to be associated with PSMU, likely due to prolonged screen time and anxiety related to social interactions or missing out on new messages and content (Woods & Scott, 2016). In extreme cases, PSMU may correlate with suicidal ideation, particularly in individuals already vulnerable to mental health struggles (Jasso-Medrano & López-Rosales, 2018). Together, these findings suggest that PSMU poses a significant and multifaceted risk to psychological well-being.

1.3.2: Social Effects

Research increasingly links PSMU to impaired social functioning, impacting psychosocial areas such as interpersonal relationships, social connectedness, social support, and face-to-face communication (Kircaburun et al., 2019; Meshi & Ellithorpe, 2021). The compulsive and excessive use associated with PSMU often consume substantial time and cognitive resources, depriving users of normal social experiences and ultimately straining interpersonal relationships (Abbouyi et al., 2024). Individuals uncomfortable or unhappy with their social environment were found to be more susceptible to excessive and problematic social media use, turning to social media in an attempt to fulfill their desire for social interaction, feelings of connectedness, and access

to social support (Kırcaburun et al., 2018). However, research indicates that only real-life social support, as opposed to social support received from social media, effectively contributes to overall well-being (Meshi & Ellithorpe, 2021). These findings raise significant concerns given the growing tendency for individuals to rely on social media as a substitute for offline social connections. The greater control over self-presentation available on social media networks may lead individuals to prioritize digital interactions over face-to-face communication. Prioritizing communication on social media over face-to-face interactions has been associated with various adverse effects, including negatively impacted social skills (She et al., 2022) and increased social isolation (Meshi & Ellithorpe, 2021). Individuals engaging in excessive and problematic social media use may exhibit antisocial behaviors, such as cyberbullying, in response to perceived online rejection (Kircaburun et al., 2019). Users engaging in frequent antisocial interactions are likely to experience increased social distress and impaired social support systems (Marengo et al., 2021).

1.3.3: Cognitive and Behavioral Effects

PSMU is linked to a range of cognitive impairments and behavioral issues, primarily in cognitive domains like attention, memory, and inhibitory control (loannidis et al., 2019; Stieger & Wunderl, 2022). These cognitive disruptions often reinforce maladaptive behavioral patterns, where users exhibit compulsive checking, excessive engagement, and persistent urges to use social media.

The effects of PSMU can be significant, impacting multiple domains of users' lives by contributing to mental health challenges, such as anxiety and depression, as well as

physical health concerns like disrupted sleep patterns. Research highlights its impact across psychological, social, and physical health domains, raising concerns about its broader implications for global health. As understanding of PSMU evolves, further research is needed to clarify these impacts and to develop interventions aimed at mitigating the potential harm associated with PSMU.

Chapter 2: The Dark Triad

2.1: Theoretical Background

The "Dark Triad" is a concept originally introduced by Pauhlus and Williams in 2002, developed in personality psychology to represent a constellation of three socially aversive traits: narcissism, Machiavellianism, and psychopathy (Paulhus & Williams, 2002). The Dark Triad traits are not interchangeable, with each trait possessing its distinct characterization. However, they share common elements, with each trait exhibiting a socially malevolent disposition, often marked by tendencies toward self-promotion, emotional detachment, manipulativeness, and hostility (Furnham et al., 2013; Paulhus & Williams, 2002).

When examining the Dark Triad, it is important to distinguish between clinical and subclinical manifestations. Much of the theoretical framework surrounding the Dark Triad involves an adaptation of clinical samples, under clinical or forensic supervision, to subclinical samples (Furnham et al., 2013). Traditionally, maladaptive personality traits were studied in clinical settings, involving individuals diagnosed with personality

disorders or engaged in behaviors warranting clinical attention. These settings provided structured environments for supervision and analysis. In adapting this framework to subclinical populations, researchers aimed to understand how these traits manifest in general community samples, where they are expressed in continuous distributions rather than as discrete clinical diagnoses.

This shift underscores how personality science has broadened to investigate socially disruptive tendencies that do not necessarily meet diagnostic criteria but can still significantly impact interpersonal and social functioning. The Dark Triad traits are examined within frameworks similar to those used in normative personality psychology. Predominant structural models like the *Five Factor Model* (McCrae, 1991) and the *HEXACO* model (Lee & Ashton, 2004), with their relevance to normative personality traits, offer a foundational framework for investigating the distinct features of Dark Triad traits (Furnham et al., 2013).

To date, two self-report measurement scales dominate Dark Triad research, the *Dirty Dozen* (Jonason & Webster, 2010) and the *Short Dark Triad* (SD3) scale (Jones & Paulhus, 2014). The Dirty Dozen is a concise measurement tool, containing 12 items with four questions dedicated to each of the three traits. It provides a practical method for large-scale studies but has received some criticism regarding its brevity. The SD3 scale extends to 27 items and offers greater reliability by capturing more nuanced behaviors and attitudes linked to each trait, with nine questions per dimension. For a deeper analysis, measures focusing on the Dark Triad traits independently, such as the

Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI), the Mach IV scale, and the Self-Report

Psychopathy Scale (SRP) are used (Furnham et al., 2013; Paulhus & Williams, 2002).

2.2: Narcissism

Narcissism originated in clinical literature and practice and remains categorized as a personality disorder in the DSM-5. The subclinical adaptation of narcissism remains largely consistent with the clinical definition. The core aspects of narcissism include grandiosity, entitlement, dominance, and a sense of superiority (Furnham et al., 2013). The extensive research conducted by Morf and Rhodewalt (2001) strongly supported the clinical to subclinical adaptation of narcissism. Results show that narcissism is driven by a dynamic motivated self-regulation process aimed at affirming one's grandiose self-image, often through external validation or control over social situations. A key aspect within this process is the paradox of grandiosity and vulnerability, where self-assurance coexists with heightened sensitivity to threats against one's self-image.

Narcissism is often linked to complex interpersonal dynamics (Furnham et al., 2013), as individuals with high narcissistic traits may demonstrate manipulative or selfish behaviors. These tendencies can impair relationships, as the narcissistic pursuit of admiration and self-affirmation frequently comes at the expense of others' needs or perspectives. Recent studies indicate that narcissism exhibits a distinct relationship with social media, especially in cases of excessive or problematic use (Andreassen et al., 2017; Casale & Banchi, 2020). The ubiquitous availability of platforms for social comparison and validation can attract individuals who display narcissistic traits, as these

environments often provide immediate feedback and approval metrics, fueling self-enhancement tendencies.

2.3: Machiavellianism

Machiavellianism differs in origin from the clinical roots associated with narcissism and psychopathy. Introduced by (Christie & Geis, 1970) and named after the Italian political strategist Niccolò Machiavelli, the concept draws on his philosophical perspectives. Christie developed a measure of Machiavellianism by selecting statements from Machiavelli's works, demonstrating reliable differences in respondents' agreement with these items (Paulhus & Williams, 2002). Experimental and correlational studies show that individuals scoring high in Machiavellianism tend to exhibit cynical views, a lack of principled values, and a belief that interpersonal manipulation is essential for achieving success in life, which is reflected in their behaviors (Furnham et al., 2013).

2.4: Psychopathy

Alongside narcissism, psychopathy has a well-documented clinical history. Although psychopathy is not formally classified as a distinct disorder in the DSM-5, its traits are closely associated with *antisocial personality disorder* (ASPD). The DSM-5 includes a "with psychopathic features" specifier for ASPD, enabling clinicians to identify psychopathy-related characteristics. Psychopathy is characterized by a complex set of personality traits and behavioral tendencies, often linked with low levels of empathy and anxiety, thrill-seeking, impulsivity, and a tendency toward antisocial behavior (Paulhus & Williams, 2002). Theoretical models often emphasize psychopathy's two key

dimensions: interpersonal-affective traits, such as callousness, dominance, and grandiosity, and behavioral attributes, including impulsivity and aggression (Hare, 2006). Psychopathy is viewed as a critical construct for understanding severe behavioral dysregulation and moral reasoning deficits.

2.5: Importance to Problematic Social Media Use

Understanding associations between the Dark Triad and PSMU provides valuable insights into the underlying psychological factors contributing to maladaptive social media behaviors. This relationship reflects a complex interplay between personality, social cognition, biological predispositions, and specific online motivations, which together shape problematic online engagement (Kircaburun & Griffiths, 2018).

Acknowledging the role of personality psychology in PSMU, it is critical to consider Dark Triad traits, as they help explain variations in user motivations and usage patterns, providing insights into why certain individuals may be particularly susceptible to PSMU (Kircaburun et al., 2018). Ultimately, examining associations between the Dark Triad and PSMU can guide psychological assessments and inform interventions, targeting cognitive and emotional aspects to support prevention and treatment efforts.

Chapter 3: The Relationship Between Problematic Social Media Use and the Dark Triad

3.1: Study Characteristics

A total of 14 articles met the eligibility criteria. All of the articles followed a cross-sectional study design and used validated quantitative measurement scales for both PSMU, the Dark Triad traits, and any other variables measured. 13 of the 14 articles addressed general PSMU, with one article focusing specifically on problematic Instagram use. When assessing PSMU, seven of the articles used the BSMAS, four used the SMAS, one used the BFAS adapted for Instagram, one used the SMDS, and one used an adapted version of internet gaming disorder scale (Pontes & Griffiths, 2015). When assessing the Dark Triad, 13 of the 14 articles addressed all three Dark Triad traits, with one article focusing exclusively on narcissism. This article used the *Narcissistic Personality Inventory* (NPI-16), of the other articles, eight used the SD3, and five used the Dirty Dozen scale. Table 1 breaks down the core characteristics, measures used, and general findings of each article.

Study	Sample Characteristics (Country, N, % Female, Mean Age)	Design	Measures	Findings
Andreassen, Pallesen, & Griffiths (2017)	Norway, N = 23,532, 65% Female, Mean Age = 35.8	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, NPI-16	Bivariate Correlations Positive correlation between PSMU and narcissism (r =0.06, p < 0.01) Multiple Regression Analysis Narcissism positively contributed to PSMU $(\beta = 0.184, p < 0.001)$
Barberis et al. (2023)	Italy, N = 788, 75% Female, Mean Age = 24.2	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, Dark Triad Dirty Dozen	Bivariate Correlations Positive correlation between the Dark Triad and PSMU ($r = .32$, $p < .01$) Structural Equation Modeling Statistically significant indirect association between the Dark Triad and PSMU ($\beta = .15$, $p < 0.001$)
Chung et al. (2019)	Malaysia, N = 128, 52% Female, Mean Age = 19.7	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, SD3	Bivariate Correlations PSMU has significant positive correlations with all Dark Triad traits: narcissism (r = 0.25, p < .01), Machiavellianism (r = 0.38, p < .01), psychopathy (r = 0.48, p < .01) Multiple Regression Analysis Psychopathy (β = 0.28, p < 0.01) was found to be a significant predictor of PSMU.
Demircioğlu & Göncü Köse (2018)	Turkey, N = 229, 68% Female, Mean Age = 21.5	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, SD3-T	Bivariate Correlations Machiavellianism ($r = 0.24$, $p < 0.01$) and psychopathy ($r = 0.25$, $p < 0.01$) are both significantly correlated with PSMU, no statistically significant correlation between narcissism and PSMU ($r = 0.04$, $p < 0.01$) Structural Equation Modeling A positive significant path between psychopathy and PSMU ($\beta = 0.17$, $p < 0.01$)

Demircioğlu & Göncü Köse (2022)	Turkey, N = 547, 50% Female, Mean Age = 15.8	Cross- sectional	SMAS, SD3-T	Bivariate Correlations PSMU has significant positive correlations with all Dark Triad traits: narcissism ($r = 0.12$, $p < 0.01$), Machiavellianism ($r = 0.16$, $p < 0.01$), psychopathy ($r = 0.32$, $p < 0.01$) Multiple Regression Analysis Statistically significant path from psychopathy to PSMU ($\beta = 0.30$, $p < 0.001$)
Hussain, Wegmann, & Griffiths (2021)	Participant nationality unspecified, N = 555, 48% Female, Mean Age = 33.3	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, SD3	Bivariate Correlations Statistically significant correlation between the Dark Triad and PSMU, narcissism (r = 0.29 , p < 0.01), Machiavellianism (r = 0.34 , p < 0.01), psychopathy (r = 0.35 , p < 0.01) Structural Equation Modeling Narcissism had a direct effect on PSMU (β = 0.24 , p < 0.001)
Kircaburun, Demetrovics, & Tosuntaş (2018)	Turkey, N = 181, 64% Female, Mean Age = 22.1	Cross-sectional	SMDS, Dark Triad Dirty Dozen	Multivariate Analysis of Covariance PSMU individuals scored higher on all Dark Triad traits compared with the non-disordered users, narcissism (F = 39.33 , $\eta = 0.05$, $\eta = 0.001$), Machiavellianism (F = 32.61 , $\eta = 0.04$, $\eta = 0.001$), psychopathy (F = 16.07 , $\eta = 0.001$) Bivariate Correlations PSMU has significant positive correlations with all Dark Triad traits: narcissism (r = 0.28 , $\eta = 0.001$), Machiavellianism (r = 0.19 , $\eta = 0.001$), psychopathy (r = 0.10 , $\eta = 0.001$) Structural Equation Modeling Significant direct effects to PSMU of narcissism ($\eta = 0.30$, $\eta = 0.001$) and Machiavellianism ($\eta = 0.23$, $\eta = 0.05$)

Kircaburun, Jonason, & Griffiths (2018)	Turkey, N = 761, 64% Female, Mean Age = 20.7	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, Dark Triad Dirty Dozen	Bivariate Correlations PSMU has significant positive correlations with all Dark Triad traits: narcissism (r = 0.22, p < 0.001), Machiavellianism (r = 0.23, p < 0.001), psychopathy (r = 0.15, p < 0.001) Multiple Regression Analysis Dark Triad traits showed weak direct effect on PSMU: narcissism (β = 0.06, p < 0.01), Machiavellianism (β = 0.05, p < 0.01), psychopathy (β = 0.02, p < 0.01)
Kumpasoğlu et al. (2021)	Turkey, N = 375, 60% Female, Mean Age = 24.0	Cross- sectional	SMAS, SD3	Bivariate Correlations Statistically significant positive correlations with Machiavellianism (r = 0.13, p < 0.05) and psychopathy (r = 0.13, p < 0.05)
Mehmet Emin Turan et al. (2023)	Turkey, N = 497, 60% Female, Mean Age = 15.0	Cross- sectional	SMAS-A, SD3-T	Bivariate Correlations PSMU has significant positive correlations with all Dark Triad traits: narcissism (r = .30, p < 0.01), Machiavellianism (r = .35, p < 0.01), psychopathy (r = .40, p < 0.01)
Necula (2020)	Romania, N = 290, 79% Female, Mean Age = 22.5	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, SD3	Bivariate Correlations PSMU has significant positive correlations with all Dark Triad traits (r = 0.17, p < 0.01): narcissism (r = .08, p < 0.01), Machiavellianism (r = 0.14, p < 0.01), psychopathy (r = 0.18, p < 0.01)
Nikbin et al. (2022)	Iran, N = 315, 80% Female	Cross- sectional	BFAS adapted for Instagram, Dark Triad Dirty Dozen	Structural Equation Modeling Narcissism (β = 0.23, p < 0.01), Machiavellianism (β = 0.18, p < 0.01), and Psychopathy (β = 0.15, p < 0.01) have a positive effect on problematic Instagram use
Siah et al. (2021)	Malaysia, N = 219, 58% Female, Mean Age = 21.5	Cross- sectional	BSMAS, SD3	Structural Equation Modeling Only narcissism found to be positively associated with PSMU (β = 0.17, p < 0.034)

Quandt (2022)	Germany, N = 1865, 52% Female, Mean Age = 27.7	Cross- sectional	Internet Gaming Disorder Scale adapted for social media, Dark Triad Dirty Dozen	Parallel Mediation Analysis The direct effect of narcissism (c` = 0.07, lower limit confidence interval (LLCI) = 0.05, upper limit confidence interval (ULCI) = 0.09), Machiavellianism (c` = 0.14, LLCI = 0.13, ULCI = 0.16), and psychopathy (c` = 0.16, LLCI = 0.14, ULCI = 0.18) to PSMU was significant
---------------	---	---------------------	---	--

Table 1. Studies on PSMU and the Dark Triad

3.2: Main Findings

General findings suggest a positive correlation between the Dark Triad traits and PSMU, as well as a statistically significant path from the Dark Triad traits to PSMU. However, the association between the individual Dark Triad traits and PSMU has inconsistencies across studies.

3.2.1: Narcissism and PSMU

Eight studies reported a statistically significant positive correlation between narcissism and PSMU, with effect sizes ranging from a small correlation (r = 0.06; Andreassen et al., 2017) to moderate correlation (r = 0.30; Mehmet Emin Turan et al., 2023). Two studies did not find a statistically significant correlation at the bivariate level. Five studies found a statistically significant path from narcissism to general PSMU ranging from $\beta = 0.06$ (Kircaburun, Jonason, et al., 2018) to $\beta = 0.30$ (Kircaburun, Demetrovics, et al., 2018), and one study found a statistically significant path from narcissism to problematic Instagram use with $\beta = 0.23$ (Nikbin et al., 2022). Three studies found no statistically significant path from narcissism to PSMU.

3.2.2: Machiavellianism and PSMU

Nine studies reported a statistically significant positive correlation between Machiavellianism and PSMU, with effect sizes ranging from a small correlation (r = 0.13; Kumpasoğlu et al., 2021) to moderate correlation (r = 0.38; Chung et al., 2019). Two studies found a statistically significant path from Machiavellianism to general PSMU ranging from $\beta = 0.05$ (Kircaburun, Jonason, et al., 2018) to $\beta = 0.35$ (Mehmet Emin Turan et al., 2023) and one study found a statistically significant path from

Machiavellianism to problematic Instagram use with β = 0.18 (Nikbin et al., 2022). Three studies found no statistically significant path from Machiavellianism to PSMU.

3.2.3: Psychopathy and PSMU

Nine studies reported a statistically significant positive correlation between psychopathy and PSMU, with effect sizes ranging from a small correlation (r = 0.10; Kircaburun, Demetrovics, et al., 2018) to moderate correlation (r = 0.48; Chung et al., 2019). Four studies found a statistically significant path from psychopathy to general PSMU ranging from $\beta = 0.02$ (Kircaburun, Jonason, et al., 2018) to $\beta = 0.30$ (Demircioğlu & Göncü-Köse, 2022) and one study found a statistically significant path from psychopathy to problematic Instagram use with $\beta = 0.15$ (Nikbin et al., 2022). Three studies found no statistically significant path from psychopathy to PSMU.

Discussion and Conclusions

Results indicate that a positive and statistically significant association exists between the Dark Triad and PSMU. While each trait positively correlates with PSMU, there is variability in the strength of associations and pathways among individual traits.

Narcissism showed the weakest correlation out of the three traits with small-to-moderate correlations with PSMU, with some studies reporting significant direct paths. Machiavellianism demonstrated moderate correlations with PSMU but yielded mixed results in its direct paths. Psychopathy exhibited the strongest and most consistent association with PSMU, both in correlation analyses and direct pathways.

The relationship between narcissism and PSMU found in the present review aligns with existing literature linking narcissistic traits to a high level of social media engagement, particularly in behaviors such as self-presentation and seeking admiration (Andreassen et al., 2017; Kircaburun, Demetrovics, et al., 2018; Nikbin et al., 2022). Narcissism's core characteristics—such as a need for admiration, status-seeking, and attention—appear to be well-served by the social media environment, where users can control their self-image and obtain instant feedback. Individuals driven by a strong need for self-enhancement and a lack of empathy may struggle more to control their social media use (Kircaburun, Demetrovics, et al., 2018). However, the inconsistency in the direct path analyses suggests that while narcissists may frequently use social media, the degree to which their use becomes problematic varies based on other individual and contextual factors. For instance, moderating and mediating variables, such as life satisfaction (Kumpasoğlu et al., 2021), may influence this relationship. Inconsistencies in findings can be explained by variations in narcissism subtypes, specifically grandiose versus vulnerable narcissism (Casale & Banchi, 2020).

Machiavellianism showed a significant association with PSMU. This finding is consistent with prior studies that suggest individuals high in Machiavellianism are inclined toward strategic, manipulative uses of social media (Abell & Brewer, 2014; Chung et al., 2019; Demircioğlu & Göncü Köse, 2018). However, the mixed results in direct path analyses indicate that while Machiavellians may engage in specific types of problematic behavior—such as manipulating social connections or spreading misinformation—their engagement may not consistently lead to addiction-like use. Moral disengagement

characteristic of Machiavellianism predicted antisocial behavior online, such as cyberbullying and cybertrolling (Kircaburun, Jonason, et al., 2018). This mediating pathway suggests that PSMU may partially arise from a cycle of manipulation and reinforcement within online environments. Social media's unique capacity for anonymous or indirect manipulation likely appeals to Machiavellians, but they may prioritize goal-oriented behavior rather than extensive, dependent use.

Psychopathy exhibited the strongest and most consistent association with PSMU across studies. Psychopathic individuals may be drawn to the immediate gratification and minimal accountability provided by social media platforms, which align with their tendency toward impulsive and sensation-seeking behaviors. Psychopathic traits, such as impulsivity, lack of self-control, lack of empathy, and antisocial behavior, can manifest in social media environments as excessive or aggressive use (Chung et al., 2019; Demircioğlu & Göncü-Köse, 2022). Psychopathy is also significantly linked to harmful social media behaviors, displaying positive associations with actions such as cyberbullying (Demircioğlu & Göncü-Köse, 2022; Kircaburun, Jonason, et al., 2018).

These findings contribute to the literature on PSMU by demonstrating that the Dark Triad traits, while each correlated with PSMU, exhibit unique patterns in how they influence problematic usage. This variability suggests that problematic social media use is not monolithic; rather, it encompasses different behavioral manifestations aligned with specific personality traits. The identification of the Dark Triad traits as predictors of PSMU holds practical implications for interventions aimed at mitigating problematic use. For instance, educational initiatives could target young social media users with psychoeducation about self-regulation and awareness of compulsive or impulsive

tendencies. Moreover, social media platforms themselves might integrate features to prompt reflection on social media use behaviors, such as providing periodic reminders of usage time.

While the present review provides valuable insights, it has limitations that should be acknowledged. First, all of the studies used to examine the relationship between the Dark Triad and PSMU followed a cross-sectional design. Without longitudinal data, it becomes challenging to track the development and stability of the study variables, determine causal relationships, and ensure the generalizability of findings. Secondly, the studies included in this review relied on self-report measures, which can be subject to bias. Participants may overestimate or underestimate their behaviors and traits, leading to inaccuracies in the data and potentially skewing the correlations observed. Third, most research has focused on European samples, overlooking other significant populations, such as in the United States. This focus restricts the findings' global applicability and creates gaps in understanding the cross-cultural impacts of the study design. Finally, PSMU is yet to receive formal classification. This leads to significant variability in measurement approaches and operational definitions of PSMU across studies, creating challenges in assessment, which may account for some inconsistencies in the results. Standardizing PSMU measures in future research would enhance reliability across studies.

Future research should employ longitudinal study designs, allowing the opportunity to track Dark Triad and PSMU over time, providing more robust conclusions about how Dark Triad traits might influence, or be influenced by, social media habits and potential problematic use. Future research should also expand beyond primarily European

samples. This could improve the global applicability of findings and help identify cultural moderators that could affect these relationships.

In the present review PSMU, the Dark Triad, and the relationship between the two have been addressed. The findings suggest that each Dark Triad trait has a significant association with PSMU, highlighting distinct pathways and potential mechanisms that link these personality dimensions to problematic behaviors on social media. This review underscores the importance of considering personality traits in the assessment and treatment of PSMU. Given the potential mental health and social consequences of PSMU, particularly among individuals with high levels of Dark Triad traits, addressing these underlying personality factors could lead to more effective prevention and intervention efforts. This work contributes to a growing body of literature aimed at understanding the psychological drivers of PSMU and prompts future research on the topic.

References:

- Abbouyi, S., Bouazza, S., El Kinany, S., El Rhazi, K., & Zarrouq, B. (2024). Depression and anxiety and its association with problematic social media use in the MENA region: a systematic review. The Egyptian Journal of Neurology, Psychiatry and Neurosurgery, 60(1), 15.
- Abell, L., & Brewer, G. (2014). Machiavellianism, self-monitoring, self-promotion and relational aggression on Facebook. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 36, 258–262.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Pearson.
- Andreassen, C. S., Pallesen, S., & Griffiths, M. D. (2017). The relationship between addictive use of social media, narcissism, and self-esteem: Findings from a large national survey. *Addictive Behaviors*, *64*(64), 287–293.
- Andreassen, C. S., Torsheim, T., Brunborg, G. S., & Pallesen, S. (2012). Development of a Facebook Addiction Scale. *Psychological Reports*, *110*(2), 501–517.
- Bányai, F., Zsila, Á., Király, O., Maraz, A., Elekes, Z., Griffiths, M. D., Andreassen, C. S.,
 & Demetrovics, Z. (2017). Problematic social media use: Results from a
 large-scale nationally representative adolescent sample. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1),
 1–13.
- Barberis, N., María-José Sánchez-Ruiz, Cannavò, M., Calaresi, D., & Verrastro, V. (2023). The Dark Triad and Trait Emotional Intelligence as Predictors of Problematic Social Media use and Engagement: The Mediating Role of the Fear of Missing Out. *PubMed*, *20*(2), 129–140.

- Błachnio, A., Przepiorka, A., & Pantic, I. (2016). Association between Facebook addiction, self-esteem and life satisfaction: A cross-sectional study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *55*(Part B), 701–705.
- Caplan, S. E. (2010). Theory and measurement of generalized problematic Internet use:

 A two-step approach. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *26*(5), 1089–1097.
- Casale, S., & Banchi, V. (2020). Narcissism and problematic social media use: A systematic literature review. *Addictive Behaviors Reports*, *11*, 100252.
- Cataldo, I., Billieux, J., Esposito, G., & Corazza, O. (2022). Assessing problematic use of social media: where do we stand and what can be improved? *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, *45*, 101145.
- Chamberlain, S. R., Lochner, C., Stein, D. J., Goudriaan, A. E., van Holst, R. J., Zohar, J., & Grant, J. E. (2016). Behavioural addiction—A rising tide? *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *26*(5), 841–855.
- Christie, R., & Geis, F. L. (1970). *Studies in Machiavellianism*. New York: Academic Press.
- Chung, K. L., Morshidi, I., Yoong, L. C., & Thian, K. N. (2019). The role of the dark tetrad and impulsivity in social media addiction: Findings from Malaysia.

 Personality and Individual Differences, 143(0191-8869), 62–67.
- Demircioğlu, Z. I., & Göncü Köse, A. (2018). Effects of attachment styles, dark triad, rejection sensitivity, and relationship satisfaction on social media addiction: A mediated model. *Current Psychology*, 40.

- Demircioğlu, Z. I., & Göncü-Köse, A. (2022). Antecedents of problematic social media use and cyberbullying among adolescents: attachment, the dark triad and rejection sensitivity. *Current Psychology*.
- Furnham, A., Richards, S. C., & Paulhus, D. L. (2013). The Dark Triad of Personality: A

 10 Year Review. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 7(3), 199–216.
- Hare, R. D. (2006). Psychopathy: A Clinical and Forensic Overview. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 29(3), 709–724.
- Heatherton, T. F., Kozolowski, L. T., Freker, R. C., & Fagerstrom, K.-O. (1991). The Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. *Addiction*, *86*(9), 1119–1127.
- Huang, C. (2020). A meta-analysis of the problematic social media use and mental health. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 68(1), 12–33.
- Hussain, Z., & Griffiths, M. D. (2019). The Associations between Problematic Social
 Networking Site Use and Sleep Quality, Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder,
 Depression, Anxiety and Stress. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 19, 686–700.
- Hussain, Z., Wegmann, E., & Griffiths, M. D. (2021). The association between problematic social networking site use, dark triad traits, and emotion dysregulation. *BMC Psychology*, *9*(1).
- Ioannidis, K., Hook, R., Goudriaan, A. E., Vlies, S., Fineberg, N. A., Grant, J. E., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2019). Cognitive deficits in problematic internet use: meta-analysis of 40 studies. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *215*(5), 1–8.

- Jasso-Medrano, J. L., & López-Rosales, F. (2018). Measuring the relationship between social media use and addictive behavior and depression and suicide ideation among university students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 87, 183–191.
- Jonason, P. K., & Webster, G. D. (2010). The dirty dozen: A concise measure of the dark triad. *Psychological Assessment*, 22(2), 420–432.
- Jones, D. N., & Paulhus, D. L. (2014). Introducing the Short Dark Triad (SD3): A Brief Measure of Dark Personality Traits. *Assessment*, *21*(1), 28–41.
- Kircaburun, K., Demetrovics, Z., & Tosuntaş, Ş. B. (2018). Analyzing the Links Between Problematic Social Media Use, Dark Triad Traits, and Self-esteem. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *17*(6).
- Kircaburun, K., & Griffiths, M. D. (2018). The dark side of internet: Preliminary evidence for the associations of dark personality traits with specific online activities and problematic internet use. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(4), 993–1003.
- Kircaburun, K., Griffiths, M. D., & Billieux, J. (2019). Trait emotional intelligence and problematic online behaviors among adolescents: The mediating role of mindfulness, rumination, and depression. *Personality and Individual Differences*,
- Kircaburun, K., Jonason, P. K., & Griffiths, M. D. (2018). The Dark Tetrad traits and problematic social media use: The mediating role of cyberbullying and cyberstalking. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *135*(135), 264–269.
- Kırcaburun, K., Kokkinos, C. M., Demetrovics, Z., Király, O., Griffiths, M. D., & Çolak, T. S. (2018). Problematic Online Behaviors among Adolescents and Emerging Adults: Associations between Cyberbullying Perpetration, Problematic Social

- Media Use, and Psychosocial Factors. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 17(4).
- Kumpasoğlu, G. B., Eltan, S., Merdan-Yıldız, E. D., & Batıgün, A. D. (2021). Mediating role of life satisfaction and death anxiety in the relationship between dark triad and social media addiction. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *172*, 110606.
- Lee, K., & Ashton, M. C. (2004). Psychometric Properties of the HEXACO Personality Inventory. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *39*(2), 329–358.
- Marengo, N., Borraccino, A., Charrier, L., Berchialla, P., Dalmasso, P., Caputo, M., & Lemma, P. (2021). Cyberbullying and problematic social media use: an insight into the positive role of social support in adolescents—data from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children study in Italy. *Public Health*, *199*, 46–50.
- Marino, C., Canale, N., Melodia, F., Spada, M. M., & Vieno, A. (2021). The Overlap Between Problematic Smartphone Use and Problematic Social Media Use: a Systematic Review. *Current Addiction Reports*.
- Marino, C., Vieno, A., Altoè, G., & Spada, M. M. (2017). Factorial validity of the

 Problematic Facebook Use Scale for adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, *6*(1), 5–10.
- McCrae, R. R. (1991). The Five-Factor Model and Its Assessment in Clinical Settings. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *57*(3), 399–414.
- Mehmet Emin Turan., Adam, F., Kaya, A. *et al.* The mediating role of the dark personality triad in the relationship between ostracism and social media addiction in adolescents. *Educ Inf Technol* 29, 3885–3901 (2024).

- Meshi, D., & Ellithorpe, M. (2021). Problematic Social Media Use and Social Support Received in real-life versus on Social media: Associations with depression,

 Anxiety and Social Isolation. *Addictive Behaviors*, *119*(106949), 106949.
- Moretta, T., Buodo, G., Demetrovics, Z., & Potenza, M. N. (2022). Tracing 20 years of research on problematic use of the internet and social media: Theoretical models, assessment tools, and an agenda for future work. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 112, 152286.
- Morf, C. C., & Rhodewalt, F. (2001). Expanding the Dynamic Self-Regulatory

 Processing Model of Narcissism: Research Directions for the Future.

 Psychological Inquiry, 12(4), 243–251.
- Necula, C. (2020). The Relation between the Dark Triad and Social Media Addiction, with the Moderating Role of Social Anxiety in Young People. *Journal of Experiential Psychotherapy*, 23(3).
- Nikbin, D., Taghizadeh, S. K., & Rahman, S. A. (2022). Linking Dark Triad traits to Instagram addiction: The mediating role of motives. *Technology in Society*, *68*, 101892.
- Paulhus, D. L., & Williams, K. M. (2002). The Dark Triad of personality: Narcissism, Machiavellianism, and Psychopathy. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *36*(6), 556–563.
- Pontes, H. M., & Griffiths, M. D. (2015). Measuring DSM-5 internet gaming disorder:

 Development and validation of a short psychometric scale. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *45*, 137–143.

- She, R., Kit han Mo, P., Li, J., Liu, X., Jiang, H., Chen, Y., Ma, L., & Tak fai Lau, J. (2022). The double-edged sword effect of social networking use intensity on problematic social networking use among college students: The role of social skills and social anxiety. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *140*, 107555.
- Siah, P. C., Hue, J. Y., Wong, B. Z. R., & Goh, S. J. (2021). Dark Triad and Social Media Addiction among Undergraduates: Coping Strategy as a Mediator. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, *13*(4), ep320.
- Stieger, S., & Wunderl, S. (2022). Associations between social media use and cognitive abilities: Results from a large-scale study of adolescents. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *135*, 107358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107358
- Svicher, A., Fioravanti, G., & Casale, S. (2021). Identifying the central symptoms of problematic social networking sites use through network analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*.
- Tang, W. Y., Reer, F., & Quandt, T. (2022). The interplay of the Dark Triad and social media use motives to social media disorder. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 187, 111402.
- Turel, O., & Serenko, A. (2012). The benefits and dangers of enjoyment with social networking websites. *European Journal of Information Systems*, *21*(5), 512–528.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A., & Deniz, L. (2015). Development of the Social Media Addiction Scale. *AJIT-e Online Academic Journal of Information Technology*, *6*(21), 51–70.
- Van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M., Lemmens, J. S., & Valkenburg, P. M. (2016). The Social Media Disorder Scale. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *61*(61), 478–487.

- World Health Organization. (2022). *ICD-11*. International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision.
- Xanidis, N., & Brignell, C. M. (2016). The association between the use of social network sites, sleep quality and cognitive function during the day. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *55*(Part A), 121–126.
- Young, K. S. (1998). Caught in the net: controlling your Internet habit: a sure-fire strategy for recovery. Wiley.
- Zarate, D., Hobson, B. A., March, E., Griffiths, M. D., & Stavropoulos, V. (2022).

 Psychometric properties of the Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale: an analysis using item response theory. *Addictive Behaviors Reports*, *17*, 100473.